No. 44942-1-II

(Cowlitz County Superior Court No. 12-2-00304-2)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COLUMBIA RIVER CARBONATES,

Appellant,

VS.

PORT OF WOODLAND, PORT COMMISSION OF THE PORT OF WOODLAND, and CRRVP LLC,

Respondent,

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Charles A. Klinge, WSBA # 26093 W. Forrest Fischer, WSBA #44156 Attorneys for Appellant

GROEN STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP 10900 NE 8th Street, Suite 1325 Bellevue, WA 98004

Telephone: (425) 453-6206

INTRODUCTION

This case concerns important questions about the validity of a Port District action in selling real property far below market value and with no advertising or marketing. Here, Respondent Port of Woodland simply picked the buyer in advance and made a sweetheart deal without contacting two other potential buyers—adjacent property owners—who had made their interest in the land known to the Port. The property was valuable industrial zoned land on the Columbia River, yet the Port did not sell the land for Port purposes—the below market sale was to an RV Park owned by Respondent CRRVP, LLC ("CRRVP").

Plaintiff/Appellant Columbia River Carbonates ("CRC") brought this case to challenge this abuse of government authority and waste of taxpayer funds. This case raises important legal issues regarding the scope and meaning of the Constitutional prohibition on gifts of public property. Art. VIII, Sec. 7. The trial court was obviously torn on the gift issue. Specifically, in changing its prior ruling, the trial court stated that the King County v. Taxpayers¹ case "really eviscerated" the Constitutional provision.² Thus, this Court must determine whether the Constitutional prohibition on gifts of public funds or property still has meaning, and if so, how it is to be applied to a typical sale of public property.

 ¹ 133 Wn. 2d 584 (1997).
 ² Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("RP"), May 8, 2013 at p. 17, lines 16-18.

CRC also brought statutory challenges with the idea that the court should decide a case on non-constitutional grounds if possible. Here, the Port abused its discretion in declaring the property as surplus and in failing to use sound business discretion in making the sale. CRC also alleged violations of the Open Public Meeting Act. The trial court erred in determining that these statutory challenges amounted to mere "procedural" flaws that were barred by CRRVP's bona fide purchaser for value defense.

CRRVP's defense is that it did nothing wrong, but that is belied by undisputed facts. Specifically, CRRVP's representatives asked the Port to keep the pending sale quiet by not discussing the sale at a Port Commission meeting "Just to keep the chatter down." The Port agreed. CRRVP claimed credit for cleaning up the property, even though the lease with the Port specifically precluded reimbursement for improvements. The Port agreed. When the Port named its final price, CRRVP demanded a further discount. The Port agreed. CRRVP was no innocent purchaser—it was orchestrating this sweetheart deal.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND RELATED ISSUES

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in issuing its Order Granting Defendant CRRVP, LLC's Motion for Summary Judgment in Part and Reserving Issues for Trial Pursuant to CR 56(d). CP 462-465.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 1:

- 1. Whether the Port abused its discretion in making the surplus determination?
- 2. Whether the Port violated its trusteeship responsibilities and abused its discretion in selling the Subject Property for far less than fair market value and without sound business discretion?
- 3. Whether CRC's statutory claims based on illegal sale (RCW 53.08.090) and on violation of the Open Public Meeting Act (Chapter 42.30 RCW) are precluded by CRRVP's affirmative defense of bona fide purchaser for value?
- 4. Whether the Open Public Meeting Act claim was improperly dismissed *sua sponte* on the merits?

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred in issuing its Order Granting Defendant CRRVP, LLC's Motion for Summary Judgment on Remaining Issue of Gift of Public Funds. CP 666-668.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 2:

5. Whether the trier of fact could find that the Port's sale of the Subject Property was an unconstitutional gift of public property (Art. VIII, § 7 Wash. Constitution) due to a grossly inadequate sale price?

- 6. Whether the Port's action in giving credit for leasehold improvements that were not reimbursable demonstrated donative intent because the Port had no obligation to do so?
- 7. Whether the trier of fact could find that the Port's sale of the Subject Property was an unconstitutional gift of public property based on donative intent and that consideration was inadequate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties and the Subject Property

Appellant Columbia River Carbonates ("CRC") is a Washington general partnership that owns and operates an industrial plant in Woodland, Washington. CP 2. In 2010, CRC purchased real property from Mike Landels³ ("Landels") located on Dike Road which has waterfront access to the Columbia River. CP 397. CRC paid \$500,000 for this 3.75 acre parcel with plans to build a marine terminal for its Woodland plant. *Id*.

Directly north and adjacent to CRC's Dike Road property is a 1.35 acre parcel, WB1503006 ("Subject Property").⁴ The Subject Property is zoned MH for Manufacturing-Heavy. CP 202. Prior to April 2011, the

³ Mike Landels was originally a co-plaintiff in this lawsuit but was voluntarily dismissed. CP 469. Accordingly, Mr. Landels is not party to this appeal.

⁴ Attached as Appendix A is an aerial photo of the Subject Property found within the Shirley Temming declaration, CP 40. Also attached as Appendix B is a survey map with the Subject Property labeled as "Adjustment A" which can also be found in the Temming declaration, CP 42.

Subject Property was owned by Respondent Port of Woodland, whose governing body is Respondent Port Commission which consists of three elected Port Commissioners (collectively referred to hereinafter as the "Port"). Prior to being sold, the Subject Property was being leased from the Port by Respondent CRRVP LLC ("CRRVP") for a mere \$50 per year. CP 132-143. CRRVP owns and operates an RV park directly adjacent to the north of the Subject Property.

While CRRVP's lease with the Port allowed for tenant improvements, it expressly prohibited reimbursement from the Port for those costs. CP 135 at §8(g). CRRVP expended money to improve the Subject Property by cleaning it up, placing gravel for a parking area, and installing landscaping. CP 34 at ¶ 7. While the record contains references to CRRVP owning a right of first refusal to purchase the Subject Property, it was conclusively demonstrated that no such agreement between the Port and CRRVP ever existed. CP 421 at 56: 14-21, 57: 6-9.

B. Interest in Purchasing the Subject Property

At various times, both Landels and CRC contacted the Port about possibly purchasing the Subject Property: Landels told the Port

-

⁵ The specific language of the lease reads: "neither Tenant nor any third party may construe the permission granted Tenant hereunder to create any responsibility on the part of the Landlord to pay for any improvements, alterations or repairs occasioned by the Tenant." CP 135 at §8(g); see also CP 634, 636 (lease continued in effect through sale).

Commission at a meeting⁶ and CRC sent an email to the Port in March 2010 that it wanted to be placed "on the list of potential purchasers should the Port decide to sell." CP 156. In response to CRC's request, the Port stated that its legal counsel was contacted, but that the Subject Property could not be sold at that time. *Id*.

Exactly one month after CRC's email, CRRVP presented the Port with an offer to purchase the Subject Property for \$30,000 plus \$5,000 for a separate .14 acre sliver. ⁷ CP 163-167. CRRVP also offered to pay for surveying and other costs. CP 163 ¶ 5. CRRVP justified its offering price due to \$14,000 in leasehold improvements. CP 169.

C. Appraisal and Surplussing of Subject Property

To effectuate the sale to CRRVP, Port Director Nelson Holmberg ("Holmberg") determined that before the Port could sell the property, it needed to obtain two independent appraisals and hold a public hearing on whether to surplus the property. CP 367 at 47:13-21. Holmberg believed that the purpose of the appraisals was to set the beginning negotiating price. *Id.* at 48:3-4. In short, Holmberg never even considered marketing the Subject Property to the public—rather, his plan was to negotiate a price with the CRRVP with the appraisals as a "starting point." *Id.* at 48:15-16. Critically, neither the Port nor its legal counsel informed

 $^{^{6}}$ Mike Landels testified in his declaration to this fact. CP 397 at ¶ 6.

Holmberg of CRC's email to the Port seeking to be on the *list of potential buyers* for the Subject Property or of Landels' similar interest. CP 369-70, at 55-57, 61:10-12. Furthermore, the Port also failed to advise Holmberg that it had an opinion letter prepared by a local real estate broker who valued the Subject Property at around \$350,000. CP 146.

Holmberg began the appraisal process by first contacting Integra Realty Resources, who determined the fair market value of the Subject Property to be \$120,000 based on the possibility of a rezone to residential. CP 178. The Port had agreed in advance to this approach. CP 171 (signed authorization, value as a riverfront home site). The appraiser recognized that the Port was intending to sell to CRRVP. *Id.* (appraisal was to be used in disposition of the Subject Property; CRRVP mentioned). Upon receiving the Integra appraisal, Holmberg forwarded it to CRRVP. CP 235. In early December 2010, CRRVP's agent, Jay Pyle, challenged the appraisal as improper stating: "Let's see what the next guy says, but evaluation as residential is not acceptable." Id. (emphasis added). Holmberg accepted this objection at face value—effectively rejecting the opinion of a certified MAI appraiser. CP 234, 376 at 83:9-25, 84:1-10. Clearly, Holmberg and the Port planned to sell the Subject Property only to CRRVP: "We're doing what we can to get this done." CP 235.

In addition to critiquing the Integra appraisal, CRRVP also urged Holmberg to avoid any public discussions about the planned sale of the Subject Property to CRRVP, which it expected within weeks. Appendix C; CP 231-2. Specifically, CRRVP owner Sheryl Temming and agent Jay Pyle made a request to Holmberg in October 2010, with respect to the potential sale of the Subject Property, that: "any discussions pertaining thereto no[t] be part of the meeting agenda or conversations." Id. (emphasis added). Incredibly, Holmberg agreed and stated that he would "strike" the public update, "and have private conversations with the individual commissioners instead." Id. CRRVP's response was that: "I'd prefer a Private update. Just to keep the chatter down." Id. (emphasis added). Holmberg's response was, "Fair enough," and that "this should start being discussed in executive session anyway." *Id.* Holmberg updated the Port Commissioners in a closed Executive Session in October 2010. CP 375 at 78:1-25, 79:1-3.8

In February 2011, the Port Commission discussed a potential sale of the Subject Property to CRC:

Commissioner Boon states that he has spoken with Ex. Director Holmberg about the possibility of selling that strip of land between CRRVP and what was Mike Landels property to

-

⁸ Holmberg could not defend this deception of the public in his deposition. Instead, the only reason he could give was, "Inexperience. Not knowing any better," but that he knows better now. CP 374-5 at 74:11-25, 75:1-6, 76:1-11. He could identify no benefit to having a private meeting, rather than in public. CP 374 at 76:18-21.

Columbia River Carbonates, they then could use the strip of land as an ingress to get back to their newly purchased property.

CP 242 (meeting minutes). The transcript of the Commission meeting on February 17, 2011, reflects that Holmberg said that he intended to meet with CRC and would get back to the Commission once he had done so. CP 247-250. The transcript also reflects discussion about the possibility that the Subject Property might be part of a plan to install a boat launch operated by the Port. *Id.*; CP 378 at 92:12-24. However, Holmberg did nothing further to investigate the boat launch idea even though he admitted that a Port operated boat launch would effectuate Port purposes. CP 379 at 94:10-20.

Despite the discussion of potential CRC interest, when the second appraisal was further delayed into March 2011, Holmberg gave another private update to the Port by email. CP 253. Holmberg also stated that he hoped to have the second appraisal by the next day, "so I can take it to Jay & Shirley9...and hopefully we can address the declaration of the property as surplus, and take action to sell the property to Jay & Shirley, at next week's commission meeting on the 17th." *Id.* Port Commissioner Cline specifically agreed to this plan set forth by Holmberg. *Id.* The day after sending that email, Holmberg met with CRC *but failed to tell CRC then*,

⁹ Pyle and Temming of CRRVP.

or at any time, that the Port was selling the Subject Property. CP 379-380 at 97-98. Holmberg admitted in his deposition that he did nothing to follow up on the direction from Commissioner Boon to contact CRC about the Subject Property. Id. In this regard, Holmberg admitted in his deposition that by not contacting CRC he "failed to do my job on that one." CP 380 at 101:6-9.

When Holmberg finally received the second appraisal from Daniel C. West of North By West Real Estate Valuations (the West appraisal), he forwarded it on to CRRVP on Saturday, March 12, 2011. CP 393-94. Within this email, Holmberg stated: "I have put an action, and public hearing, to surplus this property on the agenda for the March 17 commission meeting, and now that we have the two appraisals that shouldn't be a problem." *Id.* Holmberg also wrote: "I will also request that the Commissioners authorize me to work with you on a purchase & sale agreement that we can hopefully present at the April Commission meeting for their action." *Id.*

The second appraisal from Dan West included both the Subject Property and the .14 acre sliver to the north. CP 47-8. The appraisal value was \$65,000 based on \$1.00 per square foot or \$43,560 per acre, with

¹⁰ The reference to appraisals in conjunction with a hearing on whether to surplus the property is totally nonsensical—the inference is that the appraisals were a sham, just a box to check on the way to selling CRRVP the property.

\$58,806.00 allocated to the Subject Property and \$6,094.40 allocated to the strip on the north, then rounded to \$65,000. CP 75.

D. Private Sale of the Subject Property to CRRVP

Although Holmberg planned a public hearing on whether to surplus the Subject Property and the sliver to the north, Holmberg did not provide any notice in The Daily News newspaper per the typical practice for a public hearing. CP 380 at 101:21-25, 102:1-3. Not surprisingly, only the representatives from CRRVP appeared to speak at the "public" hearing in March 2012. CP 263. After the hearing, the Port voted to surplus the Subject Property based on multiple false statements to the Commissioners by Holmberg.¹¹

The day before the next Port Commission meeting, Holmberg met with CRRVP to discuss the sale of the Subject Property. CP 386 at 122-3. Later that day, Holmberg met with the Port Commissioners during another executive session. *Id.* at 122:22-25. Ultimately, the Port *reduced* the \$65,000 appraised value by \$3,000 for lack of sewer and water, and \$17,000 to reimburse CRRVP for improvements even though CRRVP previously claimed only \$14,000. CP 289. However, the lack of sewer

¹¹ These false statements include asserting that CRRVP had a first right of refusal (it was never finalized or approved) and that the Subject Property could not be a parcel on its own according to the County (he had yet to visit the County). CP 274, 277, 281-282.

and water was already factored into the West appraisal¹² and credit for the improvements was specifically barred within the lease. Thus, after applying the deductions, the Port originally asked that CRRVP pay \$45,000 for **both** the Subject Property and the 0.14 acre sliver. CP 289. But this price was adjusted downward by an additional \$1,000 to \$44,000 with no explanation except to comply with CRRVP's request. CP 386 at 123:1-11. Altogether, because these deductions were only for the Subject Property—and not the sliver to the north—and that the Port paid for the appraisals and part of the survey, the Port received only \$29,700, or \$0.50 per square foot for the Subject Property.

At the Port meeting on April 21, 2011, the Commission first voted to approve Resolution 381—the surplus declaration. CP 312. In an attempt to justify the Port's surplusing of the Subject Property, Holmberg stated:

> It's literally surplus property to the Port because the --the Cowlitz County Department of Planning and Building -- Building and Planning told us in no uncertain terms last week that the only people who could have any possible use for it are the folks at 1881 Dike Road [CRRVP] or the adjacent neighbor to the south [CRC and Landels]... Adjacent neighbor to the south has no interest whatsoever in it, so -- and the folks at 1881 Dike Road do have interest in it.

¹² CP 69.

CP 301-302 (emphasis added). However, Holmberg later testified during his deposition that he did not discuss the potential sale of the Subject Property with CRC as directed by the Commission even though he met with CRC to discuss CRC's marine terminal. CP 380 at 101:1-9. The sale was approved and completed. CP 308 (vote); CP 319 (quitclaim deed).

June Jones, the real estate broker with 30 years' experience who had earlier prepared the value opinion letter mentioned above, was "shocked" when she learned the details of the Port's sale of the Subject Property and stated that it "was sold severely under market value." CP 348 at 29:22-25 (emphasis added).

Because the Port never advertised the Subject Property, held a competitive bid, or took any other commercial reasonable steps to market the Subject Property, neither Landels nor CRC was ever informed of the Port's willingness to sell the Subject Property. CP 398. CRC and Landels discovered the sale of the Subject Property only after the transaction between the Port and CRRVP concluded. *Id.*

E. The Lawsuit and Motions for Summary Judgment.

After discovering the Port's sale of the Subject Property, CRC filed a complaint in Cowlitz County Superior Court naming CRRVP and the Port as defendants. Within its Complaint, CRC listed four causes of action: (1) Violation of RCW 53.08.090 – Illegal Designation of Surplus

Property; (2) Violation of RCW 53.08.090 – Illegal Sale of Port Property; (3) Illegal Gift of Public Funds; and (4) Violation of the Open Public Meetings Act – RCW 42.30. CP 1-12.

Following its answer to the Complaint, CRRVP brought a Motion for Summary Judgment. CRRVP argued that the Port had authority to sell the Subject Property, that the bona fide purchaser defense immunized the sale, and that the sale was not an illegal gift of public funds. CP 31-2. Subsequently, CRC opposed CRRVP's Motion and cross-motioned for partial summary judgment. CP 84-122. Within its cross motion, CRC only moved for judgment on its First and Second Causes of Action—namely that (1) the Port's surplussing of the Subject Property was flawed; and (2) the Port abused its discretion in selling the Subject Property. CP 86-7. CRC also opposed CRRVP's bona fide purchaser defense and argued that trial was needed due to disputed issues of material fact on the gift of public property issue. *Id*.

CRC's positions were supported by the declarations of Landels¹³ and Robert Chamberlin¹⁴ ("Chamberlin"), a certified appraiser with over 35 years' experience. ¹⁵ Specifically, Landels stated that he told the Port Commission that he was interest in purchasing the Subject Property, and

¹³ CP 396.

¹⁴ Appendix D; CP 399.

¹⁵ CRC also provided 33 additional exhibits to support its positions. See CP 126-394.

that he valued it at \$130,000 to \$160,000 based on his previous land sale to CRC. CP 397-8. Chamberlin provided expert analysis of the West appraisal and stated that "Mr. West's appraisal is faulty, contains misleading information, and is altogether not a credible report," and that, "there are no plausible explanations for a \$1.00 per square foot value contained within the Dan West appraisal." Appendix D at ¶¶ 4-6. For this conclusion, Chamberlin explained that 7 of the 9 comparable sales in the appraisal were for greater than \$2.00 per square foot, and that the West appraisal improperly considered unidentified sales of wetland property to support the lower value. *Id.*

CRRVP **provided no rebuttal evidence** or testimony in its response to CRC's motion, choosing instead to rely solely on the self-serving declaration of CRRVP owner Shirley Temming. CP 405-414.

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