COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION IN

NO. 44942-1-II

2013 OCT 15 PH 3: 17

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COLUMBIA RIVER CARBONATES,

Appellant,

v.

PORT OF WOODLAND, PORT COMMISSION OF THE PORT OF WOODLAND, and CRRVP, LLC,

Respondents.	
 BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CRRVP, LLC	

EISENHOWER CARLSON, PLLC

By Robert G. Casey, WSBA #14183
Chrystina R. Solum, WSBA #41108
Attorneys for Respondent

EISENHOWER CARLSON, PLLC

1200 Wells Fargo Plaza 1201 Pacific Avenue Tacoma, Washington 98402 Telephone: (253) 572-4500

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of CRRVP because CRC failed to raise any genuine issues of material fact or demonstrate that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to any of its claims. The Port's decision to surplus and sell the Property was not ultra vires and thus not void. CRRVP was a bona fide purchaser for value, which serves as a defense to any procedural failings by the Port, though there were none. The Port had no donative intent and the sale was supported by legally sufficient consideration, so the Property's sale did not

76 -14-

constitute an unconstitutional gift of public funds. Finally, CRC failed to demonstrate any facts that would indicate a violation of the OPMA.

A. Summary judgment standard

This Court reviews a trial court's summary judgment Order de novo. *Verdon v. AIG Life Ins. Co.*, 118 Wn. App. 449, 452, 76 P.3d 283 (2003). Summary judgment shall be granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *E.g., Doe v. Dep't of Transp.*, 85 Wn. App. 143, 147, 931 P.2d 196 (1997). While a material fact is one upon which the outcome of the case depends, it is the job of the moving party to show the absence of an issue of material fact. *Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 223, 961 P.2d 358 (1998); *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). When a motion for summary judgment is before the court, it may decide questions of fact as a matter of law when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion. *Ruff v. Cnty. of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703-704, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

Once the moving party demonstrates that there is no genuine issue of material fact present and that the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the opposing party may not rest on the pleadings, but must instead demonstrate that a triable issue remains. CR 56(e); *Meyer v. Univ. of Wash.*, 105 Wn.2d 847, 852, 719 P.2d 98 (1986). To meet this burden, the party opposing a motion for summary judgment must present facts that would be admissible in evidence at trial, and not ultimate facts or conclusions. *Layne v. Hyde*, 54 Wn. App. 125, 130, 773 P.2d 83 (1989).

76 -15-

B. CRRVP was a bona fide purchaser for value

The trial court did not err in dismissing CRC's statutory claims. The Port's action designating the Property as surplus was not ultra vires and the Port followed all procedural and substantive requirements laid out by law. Additionally, even if the Port failed to take a necessary action, such failure was procedural, and CRRVP was a bona fide purchaser for value.

1. The Port's Decision to Designate the Property as Surplus was not Ultra Vires.

The Port's decision to surplus the property is not void or illegal because the Port acted pursuant to RCW 53.08.090's grant of authority to sell surplus Port property. The Port's action was not ultra vires and cannot be voided.

A government entity is liable for – and thus bound by – those actions it had the general authority to perform. A government action is truly ultra vires only if the agency was without authority to perform the action. *South Tacoma Way, LLC v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 118, 122, 233 P.3d 871 (2010). Ultra vires acts are those performed with no legal authority and are characterized as void on the basis that no power to act existed, even where proper procedural requirements are followed. *South Tacoma Way*, 169 Wn.2d at 123.

The Port of Woodland has statutory authority to sell real property pursuant to RCW 53.08.090, which provides in relevant part that "[a] port district may sell and convey any of its real or personal property valued at

more than ten thousand dollars when the port commission has, by resolution, declared the property to be no longer needed for district purposes."

The only restrictions on the Port's ability to sell the Property comes from RCW 53.08.090(1),3 which allows the Port to "sell and convey any of its real or personal property valued at more than [\$10,000] when the port commission has, by resolution, declared the property to be no longer needed for district purposes...."4 Here, the Port during an open meeting declared the Property surplus and at a separate open meeting approved the sale. The Property was an eyesore and dump site before CRRVP improved the Property. The County Department of Building and Planning confirmed that the Property likely could not be rezoned residential or made into an independent parcel because of its size and the required setbacks. After the required setbacks, the available square footage of the Property was too small to create a true land parcel with MH zoning. The County Department of Building and Planning and Mr. West determined the only real use for the Property was for the adjoining landowners (CRRVP or Landels). The Port had no use for the Property and, in fact, had not used it.

16036-1/CRS/580876 -17-

 $^{^3}$ Tellingly, CRC based its first and second claims on the Port's alleged violation of RCW 53.08.090. 1 CP at 7 – 8. However, as has been demonstrated, the Port did not violate RCW 53.08.090. CRC's attempts to use irrelevant statutes to impose new requirements on the Port should be rejected.

⁴ In fact, the "Knowing the Waters – Basic Legal Guidelines for Port District Officials" handbook that CRC relies upon so heavily, recognizes that all the Port had to do to sell the Property was declare it surplus and that chapter 53.25 RCW applies only to industrial improvement districts. 2 CP at 337. The handbook itself states that no public bidding is required.

"[A] contract formed between a government entity and a private entity will be void only where the government had no authority to enter the contract in the first place." South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d at 123. If the government was "generally authorized to sell the surplus property, its act of doing so is not ultra vires." South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d at 123. CRC does not dispute that the Port had statutory authority to sell the Property, only the procedure followed by the Port followed in doing so.

Because the Port properly determined that the Property was surplus, the Port complied with all statutory requirements before selling the Property – it declared by resolution that the Property was surplus. At a separate public hearing, the Port approved the Property's sale. The Port complied with all statutory requirements for selling the Property and its actions cannot be voided as ultra vires.

CRC errs in relying on chapter 53.25 RCW and chapter 53.20 RCW to argue that the Port had an obligation to post public notice, seek two appraisals, or use the average of the appraisals to determine the sale price for the Property. Br. of Appellant at 22 – 29. Chapter 53.25 applies to marginal lands and industrial development districts, which are real property seized by the government for purposes of developing derelict property for industrial use. Chapter 53.20 RCW applies to the adoption of harbor improvement plans. Neither of these chapters discuss the Port's ability to designate and sell property it owns outside of either of these specialty statutory schemes. There is no evidence in the record that the

Property fell within a harbor improvement plan or industrial development district.

Unlike chapter 53.25 RCW and chapter 53.20 RCW, chapter 53.08 RCW includes no requirements for providing public notice in a newspaper, obtaining an appraisal, or notifying adjacent owners. Accordingly, the Legislature did not intend to place those restrictions on the Port when it sold non-industrial development district and non-harbor improvement district properties.

The trial court did not err in entering judgment in favor of CRRVP on CRC's claims for illegal surplus. The Port followed all statutory requirements for surplusing and selling the Property and its actions were not ultra vires. CRC's attempts to impose additional requirements not required by statute should be rejected.

2. CRRVP was a Bona Fide Purchaser for Value

The Port's sale to CRRVP is not void because the Port followed all statutory requirements for the sale and CRRVP is a bona fide purchaser for value.

The court will not set aside the sale of property to a bona fide purchaser, even in the case where there is a procedural defect. *South Tacoma Way*, 169 Wn.2d at 127. In *South Tacoma Way*, the State failed to follow a statutory requirement to notify abutting landowners of its intent to sell a strip of property before it made the sale. The Court held that this failure was procedural and that the sale was not void because the

purchaser was a bona fide purchaser for value. South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d at 128 – 29. As the Court explained,

Notably, this court has already laid the foundation for applying the bona fide purchaser doctrine to good faith purchasers of state-owned land. As early as 1913...we stated.

A purchaser of land sold by the state or patented by the government has a right to presume that all proceedings leading up to the sale are regular. He is not bound to look beyond the face of the deed, either to find out whether the Department has strictly complied with the law or rightly decided some fact, nor is he bound to investigate the conduct of the patentee or grantee.

Using this reasoning, [we] concluded that absent fraud, and where the state has general authority to sell land, a good faith purchaser has the right to rely on the resulting deed. A bona fide purchaser may thus enforce a procedurally irregular land sale, as occurred in this case. That same reasoning applies today and controls the outcome here.

South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d 127-28.

Unlike *South Tacoma Way*, there are no procedural or substantive requirements that the Port did not follow before it surplused and sold the Property. There is no analogous statutory requirement that the Port notify abutting landowners of its intent to sell the Property. Additionally, CRRVP paid fair market value for the Property. Both appraisals obtained by the Port found that if industrial zoning was the land's highest and best use, the Property was worth about \$1.00 per square foot. Based on this valuation, Mr. West set the Property's value at \$65,000.00. Through

arm's-length negotiations, the Port and CRRVP negotiated a reduction in that price based on the value that CRRVP had added to the Property. Of the \$29,000.00 in costs CRRVP invested, the Port credited only \$17,000.00. CRRVP's price was more than fair under market conditions.

The trial court did not err in determining that CRRVP was a bona fide purchaser for value and dismissing all of CRC's statutory claims.

C. CRC failed to raise any disputed issues of material fact showing that the Port's sale constituted an illegal gift of public funds.

The trial court did not err in finding that the Port's sale of the Property was supported by adequate consideration and was not an unconstitutional gift of public funds to CRRVP. CRC's arguments about how it believes the Port should have conducted the sale are a side show designed to distract from the fact that the Port followed all statutory requirements to surplus and sell the Property. CRC's real argument is that the sale was a bad deal and CRC wanted to be the purchaser. This is insufficient to support a claim for an unconstitutional gift of public funds.

Article VIII, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides:

CREDIT NOT TO BE LOANED. No county, city, town or other municipal corporation shall hereafter give any money, or property, or loan its money, or credit to or in aid of any individual, association, company or corporation, except for the necessary support of the poor and infirm, or become directly or indirectly the owner of any stock in or bonds of any association, company or corporation.

Government entities have broad discretion to determine the adequacy of consideration. *Northlake Marine Works, Inc. v. City of Seattle,* 70 Wn.

App. 491, 508, 857 P.2d 283 (1993). "The Supreme Court has recognized that any in-depth analysis of the adequacy of consideration would interfere with the government's ability to contract and establish a "burdensome precedent." *Northlake Marine Works*, 70 Wn. App. at 508.

The Washington Supreme Court has noted that the underlying rationale of this section was to prevent the appropriation of public funds for private enterprises, specifically railroads. Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d 679, 701, 743 P.2d 793 (1987). Although the parties have largely ignored the most recent cases interpreting this section, the Supreme Court has increasingly narrowed the application of this prohibition in order to more precisely conform to "the evils the framers sought to prevent." Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d at 702. In order to determine whether a gift has occurred in violation of the constitutional prohibition, it is necessary to find that the property has been transferred with donative intent, and without consideration. Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d at 702. If donative intent cannot be proven, the adequacy of consideration will not be closely scrutinized, but assessed for legal sufficiency: "a bargained-for act or forbearance is considered sufficient consideration." Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d at 703 (citing Adams v. Univ. of Wash., 106 Wn.2d 312, 327, 722 P.2d 74 (1986)).

Northlake, 79 Wn. App. at 507-508.

1. Issues of Donative Intent and Consideration are Questions of Law that may be Decided on Summary Judgment.

Issues of adequacy of consideration and donative intent are *not* issues of fact. CRC's argument to the contrary directly contradicts the holding in *King County*⁵ and is essentially lifted from Justice Sanders' dissent in that case. In *King County*, Justice Sanders passionately argued

⁵ King Cnty. v. Taxpayers of King Cnty., 133 Wn.2d 584, 949 P.2d 1260 (1997).

that the Court should not be deciding the case on summary judgment because donative intent and grossly inadequate return are "factual issues [that] may be determined only by the trier of fact, not the trial court sitting in summary judgment, nor this court." *King Cnty.*, 133 Wn.2d at 630-31 (Sanders, J., dissenting). As Justice Sanders lamented,

There are 1,199 pages of record here. The lease is 108 pages long. This cannot be shoehorned into a summary judgment. If this record, construed most favorably to the Taxpayers, does not present at least one fact or inference of (1) donative intent or (2) a grossly inadequate return, I can't imagine what would.

King Cnty., 133 Wn.2d at 638 (Sanders, J., dissenting) (emphasis added).⁶ However, the majority found no donative intent and affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the County.

In *CLEAN v. City of Spokane*,⁷ another "gift of public funds" case decided on summary judgment shortly after *King County*, the plaintiff argued that the significant difference between the negotiated lease rate and market rate for a parking garage evidenced an unconstitutional gift. The court summarily disposed of the issue finding no evidence of a gift.

16036-1/CRS/580876 -23-

⁶ Some of the evidence of "donative intent" in *King Cnty*. included the following:

⁽¹⁾ Evidence in correspondence, business records and declarations, stating that the reason for the stadium project was to aid the Mariners by making it more profitable for them to stay in Seattle than go elsewhere. *Id.* at 625;

⁽²⁾ The resignation letter from the chair of the stadium's public facilities district which stated that that she was resigning as the balance of public and private interest had shifted radically to the welfare of the Mariners ownership over that of the public. *Id.* at 628;

⁽³⁾ The new lease rate, approximately one-half of the rate in the Kingdome. (1d. at 629);

⁽⁴⁾ There was an expert opinion that the lease rate was 50 times less than fair market value. (Id. at 634);

⁽⁵⁾ The Mariners got to keep the \$45 million for the naming rights to the stadium. (*Id.* at 629).

⁷ 133 Wn.2d 455, 947 P.2d 1169 (1997).

Justice Sanders, who wrote the lengthy dissent in *King County*, reluctantly joined in the decision in the interests of stare decisis, noting that the majority already "emasculated Const. art. VII, sec. 7's prohibition against gifts of public funds to private persons by adopting a 'legally sufficient' consideration test." *CLEAN*, 133 Wn.2d at 477. As demonstrated in *King County* and *CLEAN*, whether donative intent exists is an issue of law that must be decided on summary judgment.

2. No donative intent exists in this case because the Port complied with all legal requirements before selling the Property and acted within its statutory authority when doing so.

No donative intent exists in this case because the Port complied with all legal requirements before selling the Property and acted within its statutory authority when doing so.

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